2D:4D FINGER RATIO IN CROSSFIT ATHLETES

by

Calren Wang

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of

The Wilkes Honors College

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Bachelor of Science in Liberal Arts and Sciences

with a Concentration in Biology

Wilkes Honors College of Florida Atlantic University Jupiter, Florida May 2018

2D:4D FINGER RATIO IN CROSSFIT ATHLETES

by

Calren Wang

This thesis was prepared under the direction of the candidate's thesis advisor, Dr. James Wetterer, and has been approved by the members of his/her supervisory committee. It was submitted to the faculty of The Honors College and as accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Arts in Liberal Arts and Sciences.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. James Wetterer

Dr. Erik Duboué

Dean Ellen Goldey, Wilkes Honors College

Date

ABSTRACT

Author:	Calren Wang	
Title:	2D:4D Finger Ratio in Crossfit Athletes	
Institution:	Wilkes Honors College of Florida Atlantic University	
Thesis Advisor:	Dr. James Wetterer	
Degree:	Bachelor of Science in Liberal Arts and Science	
Concentration:	Biology	
Year:	2018	

The second digit and fourth digit (2D:4D) finger ratio is known to be an indicator of *in utero* androgen influence. Here, I review current research concerning 2D:4D ratio, particularly in regards to muscle strength, muscle mass, and athletic ability. Studies on athletes have shown a significant negative correlation between the ratio and athleticism and an inconsistent correlation with muscle mass and muscle strength. I propose a research study on the relationship between the 2D:4D ratio and Crossfit athletes and its relationship to muscle mass and muscle strength.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

BACKGROUND	6
Muscle Strength and Muscle Mass	8
Athletes and 2D:4D Ratio	9
Crossfit and 2D:4D Ratio	11
PURPOSE OF PROPOSED RESEARCH	
METHODOLOGY	
Participants	13
2D:4D Ratio Measurement	13
Muscle Mass Measurement	14
Muscle Strength Measurement	15
DISCUSSION	15
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1	7
TABLE 2	8

BACKGROUND

The relationship of the index and ring finger is the (2D:4D) digit ratio, and is an important biomarker of sexual orientation. Prenatal androgen and estrogen exposure at birth determines this ratio and is fixed as early as the second trimester in the womb (Lutchmaya et al., 2004; Malas et al., 2006). 2D:4D ratio does not change during puberty or throughout the adult life (Garn et al., 1975; Trivers et al., 2006).

The most significant and universal finding in almost every 2D:4D ratio study is the correlation with gender; 2D:4D ratio is sexually dimorphic, indicating that a lower ratio reflects higher *in utero* androgen exposure (males) and a higher ratio reflects higher *in utero* estrogen exposure (females). The 2D:4D ratio is likely a balance between the prenatal testosterone and estrogen because the fetal fourth digit has a large number of androgen receptors (Manning, 2011).

Because of the sexual dimorphism in the 2D:4D ratio and the strong correlation between the ratio and sex hormone exposure, 2D:4D in adults is a reliable measure of the amount of testosterone the individual was exposed to during prenatal stages (Zheng & Cohn, 2011). Prenatal testosterone exposure has numerous long-term effects on the body, including regulation of skeletogenic genes, brain, and physiological systems (e.g., cardiovascular and endocrine systems) (Dyer et al., 2017; Kimura, 1996; Mortlock & Innis, 1997; Zheng & Cohn, 2011). Prenatal testosterone and estrogen impact the expression of the *SPARC-related modular calcium binding 1* (SMOC1) gene; androgen exposure causes an up-regulation of SMOC1 transcript, whereas, estrogens exposure causes a down-regulation (Coleman et al., 2006; Love et al., 2009; Schaeffer et al., 2008). SMOC1 has diverse functions, including regulation of the development of cartilage in the digits. The strong regulation of SMOC1 by androgens and the critical role the gene serves in modulation of digit development has lead to a widely supported hypothesis that correlation of 2D:4D between males and females may be controlled by regulation of SMOC1 (Bradshaw, 2012; Choi et al., 2010; Lawrance-Owen et al., 2013; Stricker & Mundlos, 2011; Vannahme et al., 2002).

Sex-dependent differences in 2D:4D ratio were first discovered in 1983 by Dr. Glenn D. Wilson (Wilson, 1983 and reviewed in 2010). Since then, researchers have examined the relationship between the ratio and a wide range of pathological and physiological traits (Table 1). For example a lower ratio is strongly correlated with increased athletic ability in both women and men across a variety of sports (Giffin et al., 2012; Kim & Kim, 2016; Manning, 2002; Voracek et al., 2010).

Trait Studied	Low 2D:4D Ratio	High 2D:4D Ratio	Source
Sperm Counts	Higher counts	Lower counts	Manning et al., 1998
Prostate Cancer	Higher incidence	Lower incidence	Jung et al., 2011
Neck Circumference	Lesser circumference	Greater circumference	Fink et al., 2006
Coronary Heart Disease	Lower risk	Higher risk	Fink et al., 2006
Athletic Ability	Greater ability	Lesser ability	Dyer et al., 2017; Hsu et al., 2015; Manning & Taylor, 2001; Moffit & Swanik, 2011

Table 1: Physiological and Pathological Traits Correlated to 2D:4D Ratio

Researchers also studied different psychological disorders and behavioral traits and their relationship to 2D:4D ratios (Table 2). A lower 2D:4D ratio has been correlated with improved performance on the Mental Rotation Test (MRT) which measures visual-spatial ability (Peters et al., 2007). Geschwind and Galaburda (1985) suggested that high prenatal testosterone promotes the growth of the right hemisphere of the brain which facilitates visual-spatial ability. Studies have found that athletes score higher on the MRT than non-athletes (Manning & Taylor, 2001; Moreau et al., 2011).

Trait Studied	Low 2D:4D Ratio	High 2D:4D Ratio	Source
Depression	Lower incidence in	Higher incidence in	Bailey & Hurd, 2005
	men	men	
Schizophrenia	Lower incidence in	Higher incidence in	Collinson et al., 2010
	men	men	
Alcohol Dependency	Higher incidence	Lower incidence	Kornhuber et al.,
			2011
Aggression	Higher incidence in	Lower incidence in	Hönekopp & Watson,
	men	men	2011
Mental Rotation Test	Improved	Decreased	Peters et al., 2007
(MRT)	performance	performance	

Table 2: Psychological and Behavioral Traits Correlated to 2D:4D Ratio

Muscle Strength and Muscle Mass

Androgen hormones promote protein synthesis and have anabolic properties that stimulates development and growth of muscle mass (MM), muscle strength (MS), bone density, bone strength (Sheffield-Moore, 2000). Studies have generally linked a low 2D:4D ratio to increased strength, but the evidence is inconclusive as strength is also influenced by mass, testosterone, and behavioral factors (Ribeiro et al., 2016). Folland et al. (2012) found that the correlation

between the 2D:4D ratio and sports performance was not dependent on MS. However, Halil et al. (2013) found a significant negative correlate with MM and MS in elderly patients (65 years or older). Other studies have since shown inconsistent correlations between the 2D:4D ratio and MM and MS. Loss of MM (sarcopenia) and MS occurs with aging and increases the risk of physical disability, poor quality of life and death (Cruz-Jentoft et al., 2010). There are multiple factors that decrease MM and MS which is not completely understood (Bastiaanse et al., 2012: Halil et al., 2013: Muscaritoli et al., 2010). One example includes levels of testosterone, which decrease with age. In turn, reduced testosterone levels cause a decrease in both mass and strength over time (Feldman et al., 2002; Morley et al., 2011). If the 2D:4D ratio could be correlated unequivocally to MM and MS, then the use of the ratio could be used as a supplementary tool in every day medical practice to diagnose diseases like sarcopenia. Research is limited on this relationship and should be examined further.

Athletes and 2D:4D Ratio

Numerous researchers have examined whether 2D:4D ratios correlated with strength and athleticism (Manning et al., 1998; Manning & Taylor, 2001). Manning and Taylor (2001) performed the earliest study on English professional football (soccer) players of different league divisions. In the study of 304 athletes, they found a lower ratio in English football players versus non-athlete controls. The 2D:4D ratios among groups, from highest to lowest, were: competitive international players, coaches, premier club players, division club players, and non-athletes (Manning & Taylor, 2001). Comparing different athletes from sports, Moffit & Swanik (2011) found the rank order of lowest to highest 2D:4D ratios were: football, gymnastics, and rowing (Moffit & Swanik, 2011). Research has suggested the 2D:4D ratio may reflect short-term activation effects of testosterone. A low ratio is correlated with hormonal responses during physical and aggressive challenge situations, repeated cycle sprint test or aggressive videos, in adult men (Crewther et al., 2015). Ribeiro et al. (2016) suggested that this correlation explains the 2D:4D ratio association to sports performance, but there are numerous studies on various sports (i.e. football, basketball, soccer, gymnastics, and tennis) that show a negative correlation with performance.

Studies on female athletes have also found similar results. Pokrywka et al. (2005) found elite female athletes that have a significantly lower 2D:4D ratio compared to the control group (non-athletes). The most recent study on female semi-professional basketball players concludes that "female players with lower digit ratios tend to perform better in several aspects of basketball, especially defensively, and were more likely to be starters, suggesting they are the best players on the team in their positions" (Dyer et al., 2017). Female fencers who participate in the most aggressive form of fencing, the sabre, are found to have a lower 2D:4D ratio than those active in other less aggressive forms (Voracek et al., 2010).

Taken together, these data suggest one main point: athletic success may be prenatally programmed, and a consequence of the long-term effects of testosterone exposure *in utero*. Moreover, because the 2D:4D ratio remains constant throughout the human lifespan, athletic performance may be affected only marginally by current androgen and estrogen levels (Trivers et al., 2006). "These results...reflect the organizational benefits of prenatal testosterone" (Dyer et al., 2017) and leads us to the main question of this literature review of whether Crossfit athletes would produce low 2D:4D ratio results.

Crossfit and 2D:4D Ratio

Crossfit is a unique because it merges many sports into one. It can be described as a form of high-intensity interval training (Milanović et al., 2015) or as founder Greg Glassman (2007) wrote, a "constantly varied, high-intensity, functional movement." It is a relatively new sport that first appeared in 2000, but has grown fast, and is now widespread throughout the world. Crossfit was originally designed to train people in the military and police forces who require regular physical fitness to prepare for unknown situations (Meyer et al., 2017). Greg Glassman (2007) intended to "build a program that would best prepare trainees for any physical contingency [and] prepare them not only for the unknown but the unknowable." Crossfit incorporates functional movements to promote MS and cardiovascular fitness (Weisenthal et al., 2014). These functional movements include, but are not limited to, Olympic lifting (e.g., squats, cleans, deadlifts, bench press, and presses), gymnastics (e.g., pull-ups, lunges, knees to elbows, handstand pushups, push-ups, and sit-ups), and aerobic exercise/metabolic conditioning (e.g., swimming, running, and rowing)(Longe, 2012; Weisenthal et al., 2014). Ribeiro et al. (2016) suggested that the 2D:4D ratio is negatively correlated to strength in challenge situations, short term hormonal responses to aggressive challenge situations. To date, no studies have examined the relationship of the 2D:4D ratio and Crossfit performance. Due to the high-intensity training, it is plausible that Crossfit athletes will have a low 2D:4D ratio, but no study has directly tested this hypothesis.

PURPOSE OF PROPOSED RESEARCH

The purpose of this research proposal is to understand the relationship between the 2D:4D ratio with Crossfit athletes and MM and MS from three independent studies. The first study will analyze the relationship between performance of male and female Crossfit athlete's in Crossfit activities and their 2D:4D ratio. The second study will evaluate differences in 2D:4D ratios of competitive athletes versus non-competitive Crossfit athletes. A third study will measure the MM and MS of all the above individuals to examine further the relationship between 2D:4D ratio and MM and MS. For this proposed study, competitive Crossfit athletes are defined as individuals who perform Crossfit exercise in competitions, such as the Crossfit Regional or World competitions. Noncompetitive Crossfit athletes would ideally perform Crossfit workouts 2-3 times weekly. I hypothesize a lower 2D:4D ratio in Crossfit athletes versus nonathletes, a lower ratio between competitive athletes versus non-competitive Crossfit athletes and a possible negative correlation with MM and MS.

METHODOLOGY

For this research study, I would use a cross-sectional design where data is taken from the population during a specific time frame. This experimental design is appropriate because the 2D:4D ratio is a constant measurement. Three groups would be tested during this study; each individual would be tested once.

Participants

The study population would consist of three groups: competitive Crossfit athletes, non-competitive Crossfit athletes, and a non-athletic control group. Ideally, the study should include more than 30 individuals of each group in order to ensure statistical accuracy and consistency. The participants should be between the ages of 21 to 35 years, the prime ages of muscular development, and cannot have or had any form of hand injury in their lifetime as this can affect the 2D:4D ratio.

2D:4D Ratio Measurement

The 2D:4D ratio should be measured directly by digital caliper, the most accurate system proposed by Ribeiro et al., (2016). The second digit and fourth digit should be measured on the right and left hands from the mid-point on the ventral flexion crease to the tip of the finger the digital caliper with 0.01mm precision. A longer index finger yields a higher ratio and a longer ring finger yields a lower ratio. To calculate the 2D:4D ratio the following formula should be

used: 2D:4D ratio = $\frac{\text{Length of the Second Digit (mm)}}{\text{Length of the Fourth Digit (mm)}}$.

Muscle Mass Measurement

Calf circumference and a bioimpedence scale should be used to measure the muscle mass (MM) with participant in the standing position (Halil et al., 2013). The anthropometric tape should be used to wrap around the dominant calf, without compressing subcutaneous tissue (Halil et al., 2013). If the participant does not know whether they have a dominant versus non-dominant leg for sports then the right calf should be measured. A bioimpedence scale measures several body indicators (body mass index, body fat percentage, skeletal muscle, and body weight) that will go into the calculation of MM. Bioimpedence measures can be performed on most individuals because the signal is undetectable and harmless, but should not be used on individuals with a pacemaker or other electronic medical devices (Omron Healthcare Inc., 2009). To calculate MM, the participants would step onto the bioimpedence scale (model: Ormon HBF-510W Body Composition Monitor with Scale) to measure the indicators listed above. It estimates body composition by measuring the body's ability to conduct a 500-800 microamp, 50 kilohertz, electrical current (via footpad sensor) that runs through the water of muscle and fat tissue. Lean body mass, fat mass, and MM can be calculated from the differences in electrical currents through the different fluid and tissue types (Dehghan & Merchant, 2008).

Muscle Strength Measurement

Muscle Strength (MS) should be measured by evaluating the handgrip strength in both dominant and non-dominant hands with the use of a hand dynamometer. A dynamometer is an instrument that measures the grip strength (in ohms) of the muscles of the arm and hand. To use it, the participant will stand or sit with their arm by their side and elbow flexed to 90 degrees while squeezing the handgrip of the dynamometer as tight as possible. This is known as an isometric muscle contraction. The participant will then squeeze the grip three times with each hand and the mean value for each hand should be recorded as their MS.

DISCUSSION

The results of this study are entirely theoretical at this point in time. Performing this study would add to the growing research on the link between the 2D:4D ratio and specific athletic groups and the limited research on the link between the 2D:4D ratio and MM and MS. If a negative correlation is found between competitive Crossfit athletes and non-competitive athletes, then the ratio could potentially be used as an indicator of athletic ability in the sport. If significant correlations are found between the 2D:4D ratio, MM, and MS, health professionals could potentially predict susceptibility of MM and MS loss based on the pre-natal androgen correlation to the ratio. It is a inexpensive and easy measurement process to administer to test for diseases that are related to MM and MS. This literature review encourages the execution of this proposed research study along with further research to draw conclusions regarding the true extent of relationships between the 2D:4D ratio, Crossfit athletes, MM and MS.

REFERENCES

Bailey, A. A., & Hurd, P. L. (2005). Depression in men is associated with more feminine finger length ratios. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 39(4), 829–836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2004.12.017

Bastiaanse, L. P., Hilgenkamp, T. I. M., Echteld, M. A., & Evenhuis, H. M. (2012). Prevalence and associated factors of sarcopenia in older adults with intellectual disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 33(6), 2004– 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2012.06.002

- Bradshaw, A. D. (2012). Diverse biological functions of the SPARC family of proteins. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 44(3), 480–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2011.12.021
- Choi, Y. A., Lim, J., Kim, K. M., Acharya, B., Cho, J. Y., Bae, Y. C., Shin, H. I., Kim, S. Y., & Park, E. K. (2010). Secretome analysis of human BMSCs and identification of SMOC1 as an important ECM protein in osteoblast differentiation. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 9(6), 2946–2956.

https://doi.org/10.1021/pr901110q

Coleman, I. M., Kiefer, J. a, Brown, L. G., Pitts, T. E., Nelson, P. S., Brubaker, K. D., Vessella, R. L. & Corey, E. (2006). Inhibition of androgen-independent prostate cancer by estrogenic compounds is associated with increased expression of immune-related genes. *Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.)*, 8(10), 862–878. https://doi.org/10.1593/neo.06328

Collinson, S. L., Lim, M., Chaw, J. H., Verma, S., Sim, K., Rapisarda, A., & Chong, S. A.

(2010). Increased ratio of 2nd to 4th digit (2D:4D) in schizophrenia.

Psychiatry Research, 176(1), 8–12.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2009.08.023

Crewther, B., Cook, C., Kilduff, L., & Manning, J. (2015). Digit ratio (2D:4D) and salivary testosterone, oestradiol and cortisol levels under challenge:
Evidence for prenatal effects on adult endocrine responses. *Early Human Development*, *91*(8), 451–456.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.04.011

Cruz-Jentoft, A. J., Baeyens, J. P., Bauer, J. M., Boirie, Y., Cederholm, T., Landi, F., Martin, J.P., Rolland, Y., Schneider, S. M., Topinková, E., Vandewoude, M., & Zamboni, M. (2010). Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. *Age and Ageing*, *39*(4), 412–23.

https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afq034

Dehghan, M., & Merchant, A. T. (2008). Is bioelectrical impedance accurate for use in large epidemiological studies? *Nutrition Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-7-26

Dyer, M., Short, S. E., Short, M., Manning, J. T., & Tomkinson, G. R. (2017). Relationships between the second to fourth digit ratio (2D:4D) and gamerelated statistics in semi-professional female basketball players. *American Journal of Human Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.23070

Feldman, H. A., Longcope, C., Derby, C. A., Johannes, C. B., Araujo, A. B., Coviello, A.

D., Bremner, W. J., & McKinlay, J. B. (2002). Age trends in the level of serum testosterone and other hormones in middle-aged men: Longitudinal results from the Massachusetts Male Aging Study. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *87*(2), 589–598. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.87.2.589

Fink, B., Manning, J. T., & Neave, N. (2006). The 2nd-4th digit ratio (2D:4D) and neck circumference: Implications for risk factors in coronary heart disease. *International Journal of Obesity*, 30(4), 711–714.

https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803154

- Folland, J. P., Mc Cauley, T. M., Phypers, C., Hanson, B., & Mastana, S. S. (2012). Relationship of 2D:4D finger ratio with muscle strength, testosterone, and androgen receptor CAG repeat genotype. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, 148(1), 81–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.22044
- Garn, S. M., Burdi, A. R., Babler, W. J., & Stinson, S. (1975). Early prenatal attainment of adult metacarpal-phalangeal rankings and proportions. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology*, 43(3), 327–332.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.1330430305
- Geschwind, N., & Galaburda, A. M. (1985). Cerebral Lateralization: Biological Mechanisms, Associations, and Pathology: III. A Hypothesis and a Program for Research. *Archives of Neurology*, *42*(7), 634–654.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.1985.04060070024012

Giffin, N. A., Kennedy, R. M., Jones, M. E., & Barber, C. A. (2012). Varsity athletes have lower 2D:4D ratios than other university students. *Journal of Sports*

Sciences, 30(2), 135–138. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2011.630744

- Glassman, G. (2007). Understanding CrossFit. *CrossFit Journal*, 56, 2–3. Retrieved from http://library.crossfit.com/free/pdf/CFJ_56-07_Understanding.pdf
- Halil, M., Gurel, E. I., Kuyumcu, M. E., Karaismailoglu, S., Yesil, Y., Ozturk, Z. A.,
 Yavuz, B. B., & Ariogul, S. (2013). Digit (2D:4D) ratio is associated with
 muscle mass (MM) and strength (MS) in older adults: Possible effect of in
 utero androgen exposure. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 56(2),
 358–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2012.11.003
- Hönekopp, J., & Watson, S. (2011). Meta-analysis of the relationship between digit-ratio 2D:4D and aggression. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 51(4), 381–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2010.05.003
- Hsu, C. C., Su, B., Kan, N. W., Lai, S. L., Fong, T. H., Chi, C. P., Chang, C. C., & Hsu, M.
 C. (2015). Elite collegiate tennis athletes have lower 2D: 4D ratios than those of nonathlete controls. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 29(3), 822–825. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000000681
- Jung, H., Kim, K. H., Yoon, S. J., & Kim, T. B. (2011). Second to fourth digit ratio: A predictor of prostate-specific antigen level and the presence of prostate cancer. *BJU International*, *107*(4), 591–596. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010.09490.x
- Kim, T. B., & Kim, K. H. (2016). Why is digit ratio correlated to sports performance? *Journal of Exercise Rehabilitation*, *12*(6), 515–519. https://doi.org/10.12965/jer.1632862.431

- Kimura, D. (1996). Sex, sexual orientation and sex hormones influence human cognitive function. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 6(April), 259–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4388(96)80081-X
- Kornhuber, J., Erhard, G., Lenz, B., Kraus, T., Sperling, W., Bayerlein, K., Biermann, T., & Stoessel, C. (2011). Low digit ratio 2D:4D in alcohol dependent patients. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019332
- Lawrance-Owen, A. J., Bargary, G., Bosten, J. M., Goodbourn, P. T., Hogg, R. E., & Mollon, J. D. (2013). Genetic association suggests that SMOC1 mediates between prenatal sex hormones and digit ratio. *Human Genetics*, *132*(4), 415–421. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00439-012-1259-y
- Longe, J. L. (2012). *Crossfit. In J. L. Longe (Ed.), The Gale encyclopedia of fitness* (Vol. 1). Detroit, MI: Gale, Cengage Learning.
- Love, H. D., Erin Booton, S., Boone, B. E., Breyer, J. P., Koyama, T., Revelo, M. P., Shappell, S. B., Smith, J. R., & Hayward, S. W. (2009). Androgen regulated genes in human prostate xenografts in mice: Relation to BPH and prostate cancer. *PLoS ONE*, *4*(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008384
- Lutchmaya, S., Baron-Cohen, S., Raggatt, P., Knickmeyer, R., & Manning, J. T. (2004). 2nd to 4th digit ratios, fetal testosterone and estradiol. *Early Human Development*, 77(1–2), 23–28.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2003.12.002

Malas, M. A., Dogan, S., Hilal Evcil, E., & Desdicioglu, K. (2006). Fetal development of the hand, digits and digit ratio (2D : 4D). *Early Human Development*,

82(7), 469–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2005.12.002

- Manning, J. T. (2002). The ratio of 2nd to 4th digit length and performance in skiing. *Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness*, 42(4), 446–450. https://doi.org/10.1054/mehy.1999.1150
- Manning, J. T. (2011). Resolving the role of prenatal sex steroids in the development of digit ratio. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *108*(39), 16143–16144. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1113312108
- Manning, J. T., Scutt, D., Wilson, J., & Lewis-Jones, D. I. (1998). The ratio of 2nd to 4th digit length: a predictor of sperm numbers and concentrations of testosterone, luteinizing hormone and oestrogen. *Human Reproduction*, *13*(11), 3000–3004. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/13.11.3000
- Manning, J. T., & Taylor, R. P. (2001). Second to fourth digit ratio and male ability in sport: Implications for sexual selection in humans. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, *22*(1), 61–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1090-5138(00)00063-5
- Meyer, J., Morrison, J., & Zuniga, J. (2017). The Benefits and Risks of CrossFit: A Systematic Review. Workplace Health and Safety, 65(12), 612–618. https://doi.org/10.1177/2165079916685568
- Milanović, Z., Sporiš, G., & Weston, M. (2015). Effectiveness of High-Intensity
 Interval Training (HIT) and Continuous Endurance Training for VO2max
 Improvements: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Controlled Trials.
 Sports Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-015-0365-0

Moffit, D. M., & Swanik, C. B. (2011). The association between athleticism,

prenatal testosterone, and finger length. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, *25*(4), 1085–1088. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181d4d409

- Moreau, D., Mansy-Dannay, A., Clerc, J., & Guerrién, A. (2011). Spatial ability and motor performance: Assessing mental rotation processes in elite and novice athletes. *International Journal of Sport Psychology*, *42*(6), 525–547.
- Morley, J. E., Abbatecola, A. M., Argiles, J. M., Baracos, V., Bauer, J., Bhasin, S., ...
 Anker, S. D. (2011). Sarcopenia With Limited Mobility: An International
 Consensus. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, *12*(6),
 403–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2011.04.014
- Mortlock, D. P., & Innis, J. W. (1997). Mutation of HOXA13 in hand-foot-genital syndrome. *Nature Genetics*, *15*(2), 179–180.

https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0297-179

- Muscaritoli, M., Anker, S. D., Argilés, J., Aversa, Z., Bauer, J. M., Biolo, G., Boirie, Y., Bosaeus, I., Caderholm, T., Costelli, P., Fearon, K. C., Laviano, A., Maggio, M., Rossi, F. F., Schneider, S. M., & Sieber, C. C. (2010). Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: Joint document elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) " cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and " nutrition in geriatrics." *Clinical Nutrition*, *29*(2), 154–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2009.12.004
- Peters, M., Manning, J. T., & Reimers, S. (2007). The effects of sex, sexual orientation, and digit ratio (2D:4D) on mental rotation performance.

Archives of Sexual Behavior, 36(2), 251–260.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-006-9166-8

- Pokrywka, L., Rachoń, D., Suchecka-Rachoń, K., & Bitel, L. (2005). The second to fourth digit ratio in elite and non-elite female athletes. *American Journal of Human Biology*, *17*(6), 796–800. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajhb.20449
- Ribeiro, E., Neave, N., Morais, R. N., Kilduff, L., Taylor, S. R., Butovskaya, M., Fink,
 B., & Manning, J. T. (2016). Digit ratio (2D:4D), testosterone, cortisol,
 aggression, personality and hand-grip strength: Evidence for prenatal
 effects on strength. *Early Human Development*, *100*, 21–25.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2016.04.003
- Ribeiro, E., Neave, N., Morais, R. N., & Manning, J. T. (2016). Direct versus indirect measurement of digit ratio (2D:4D): A critical review of the literature and new data. *Evolutionary Psychology*, *14*(1).

https://doi.org/10.1177/1474704916632536

- Schaeffer, E. M., Marchionni, L., Huang, Z., Simons, B., Blackman, A., Yu, W., Parmigiani, G., & Berman, D. M. (2008). Androgen-induced programs for prostate epithelial growth and invasion arise in embryogenesis and are reactivated in cancer. *Oncogene*, *27*(57), 7180–7191. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.327
- Sheffield-Moore, M. (2000). Androgens and the control of skeletal muscle protein synthesis. *Annals of Medicine*, 32(3), 181–6. https://doi.org/10.3109/07853890008998825

- Stricker, S., & Mundlos, S. (2011). Mechanisms of digit formation: Human malformation syndromes tell the story. *Developmental Dynamics*. https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.22565
- Trivers, R., Manning, J., & Jacobson, A. (2006). A longitudinal study of digit ratio
 (2D:4D) and other finger ratios in Jamaican children. *Hormones and Behavior*, 49(2), 150–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2005.05.023
- Vannahme, C., Smyth, N., Miosge, N., Gösling, S., Frie, C., Paulsson, M., Maurer, P., & Hartmann, U. (2002). Characterization of SMOC-1, a novel modular calcium-binding protein in basement membranes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(41), 37977–37986.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M203830200

- Voracek, M., Reimer, B., & Dressler, S. G. (2010). Digit ratio (2D:4D) predicts sporting success among female fencers independent from physical, experience, and personality factors. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine and Science in Sports*, 20(6), 853–860. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2009.01031.x
- Weisenthal, B. M., Beck, C. A., Maloney, M. D., DeHaven, K. E., & Giordano, B. D.(2014). Injury rate and patterns among crossfit athletes. *Orthopaedic Journal of Sports Medicine*, 2(4).

https://doi.org/10.1177/2325967114531177

Wilson, G. (2010). Fingers to feminism: The rise of 2D: 4D. *Q. Rev. Chem. Soc*, 25–32. Retrieved from

http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Fingers+ to+feminism:+the+rise+of+2D:4D#0%5Cnhttp://scholar.google.com/schol ar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Fingers+to+feminism:+The+rise+of+2D:+ 4D#0

- Wilson, G. D. (1983). Finger-length as an index of assertiveness in women. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 4(1), 111–112.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(83)90061-2
- Zheng, Z., & Cohn, M. J. (2011). Developmental basis of sexually dimorphic digit ratios. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(39), 16289– 16294. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1108312108